### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world-wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

04/23/2024

Sushraya Jay

Date

Exploring the Role of Everyday Discrimination, Acculturative Stress, and Socio-Demographic Factors on Outcomes of Perceived Stress Among South Asians Living in the Greater Atlanta Metropolitan Area

> By Sushraya Jay Master of Public Health

Department of Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences

Robin McGee, PhD, MPH Committee Chair

Shilpa Patel, MPH, PhD Committee Member

> Don Operario, PhD Department Chair

## Exploring the Role of Everyday Discrimination, Acculturative Stress, and Socio-Demographic Factors on Outcomes of Perceived Stress Among South Asians Living in the Greater Atlanta Metropolitan Area

By

Sushraya Jay

### B.A. Neuroscience & Behavior, Science in Society Wesleyan University 2021

Thesis Committee Chair: Robin McGee MPH, PhD

Thesis Committee Member: Shilpa Patel MPH, PhD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences 2024

# ABSTRACT

# By Sushraya Jay

# Exploring the Role of Everyday Discrimination, Acculturative Stress, and Socio-Demographic Factors on Outcomes of Perceived Stress Among South Asians Living in the Greater Atlanta Metropolitan Area

**Background:** South Asians are one of the fastest-growing ethnic groups in the country, with a population of approximately 5.7 million, many of whom have immigrated to this country seeking employment or education. The process of immigration and building a new life in a completely new environment is a stressful journey for individuals and increases the risk for acculturative stress. Perpetuated by experiences of discrimination and other sociodemographic factors such as language proficiency and income, research has demonstrated outcomes of increased perceived stress, which heightens the risk for mental health disorders such as depression and anxiety. There is very limited data concerning this population and outcome, and fewer studies examine various sociodemographic outcomes across disaggregated South Asian ethnic identities.

**Purpose:** Using Berry's Model of Acculturation as a framework, this study sought to examine if there are any associations between experiences of everyday discrimination, acculturative stress, and various socio-demographic factors with outcomes of perceived stress amongst South Asians living in the Greater Atlanta Metropolitan area.

**Methods:** This study used data from the SAHAR study at Emory University, which began collection in January 2023. This survey covered multiple domains including perceptions of health, attitudes towards healthcare, and various experiences. For the purpose of this study, variables of interest included everyday discrimination, acculturative stress, perceived stress, and socio-demographic factors such as employment status, education level, ethnicity, and language proficiency. Fisher's Exact Test and logistic regression were the primary methods utilized along with multiple regression to see if there were any effects with socio-demographic predictors.

**Results:** Outcomes from validated questionnaires demonstrated 53.3% of participants experienced high levels of discrimination; 76% of individuals reported high levels of acculturative stress; and 91.8% of individuals reported high perceived stress. Fisher's test and logistic regression demonstrated a significant association between low levels of discrimination and lower odds of perceived stress, and high language proficiency and lower acculturative stress. However, the relationship was not significant between acculturative stress and perceived stress.

**Conclusion:** Individuals experiencing lower levels of discrimination are at lower risk for experiencing perceived stress with socio-demographic factors having an impact on acculturative stress processes as well as experiences of discrimination. High levels of perceived and acculturative stress were present across the participant sample, suggesting the need for further research into the mechanisms driving such experiences and implementing culturally relevant interventions.

## Exploring the Role of Everyday Discrimination, Acculturative Stress, and Socio-Demographic Factors on Outcomes of Perceived Stress Among South Asians Living in the Greater Atlanta Metropolitan Area

By

Sushraya Jay

### B.A. Neuroscience & Behavior, Science in Society Wesleyan University 2021

Thesis Committee Chair: Robin McGee MPH, PhD

Thesis Committee Member: Shilpa Patel MPH, PhD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences 2024

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project could not have been completed without the data and support from the Mind and Heart Lab at Emory University's School of Medicine, led by Dr. Ambar Kulshrestha.

I would like to sincerely thank all the individuals who so graciously supported me during the completion of my master's thesis.

To my committee chair Dr. McGee, thank you for your immense support throughout this process and your complete faith in my ability to complete this. I cannot express how grateful I am for your patience, kindness, and willingness to teach me during this process.

To my committee member Dr. Patel, thank you for your support during this journey as well, your insights are invaluable, and I am grateful to have learned from you during this short time working together.

To my friends at home and at Rollins, this thesis could not have been completed without your support and encouragement to keep me going. Your love, kindness, and genuine care did not go unnoticed, and I am eternally grateful to have you all in my life.

To my Amma and Dad, without your faith and constant belief in my abilities to succeed in both school and this project, the process would have been ten times harder. Thank you for always being my pillars of support. This work is a culmination of your dedication and sacrifice to our family and all you have done for me.

# **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Mental Health Epidemiology	5
Immigration and Additional Mental Health Risk Factors	6
South Asians and Mental Health	7
Acculturation and Health Outcomes	10
Acculturative Stress	11
South Asians and Acculturative Stress	12
Everyday Discrimination	13
Mental Health	14
Theoretical Background and Grounding: Berry's Model of Acculturation	15
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	
Study Design	20
Participants and Sampling Procedures	20
Measures	
Demographic Variables Independent Variables	
Dependent Variable	
Analysis Plan	26
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
Demographics:	27
Analysis:	
CH. 5 DISCUSSION	
Results Compared to Literature	
Acculturative Stress Variable Anomaly: Statistical Snag	40
Implications and Future Directions	41
Strengths and Limitations	42
REFERENCES	

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

According to the 2020 United States Census Bureau, approximately 5.7 million South Asians live in the United States (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020) with the population having grown rapidly between the years 2000-2015. South Asians are one of the fastest-growing ethnic groups in the United States (Rico et al., 2023; U.S. Census Bureau, 2020), with 77% (~4.4 million) identifying as Asian-Indian, growing 50% between 2010-2020 (Rico et al., 2023; U.S. Census Bureau, 2020). Some of the countries within South Asia are India, Pakistan, Bhutan, Nepal, Bangladesh, Afghanistan, and Sri Lanka. Between these several countries, communities speak multiple languages and practice different religious and cultural traditions. Using India as an example, the country has 23 languages split across its various regions, not including the hundreds of dialects (Das Gupta, 1970; Indian Ministry of Education, N.D.). This has historically led to inter-ethnic struggles due to the government's attempts to impose the Hindi languages (Das Gupta, 1970). The nature of language alone has increased conflicts between Hindi-speaking and non-Hindi-speaking Indians (Das Gupta, 1970).

Diversity of religious practices are also abundant across South Asia, with individuals primarily practicing Hinduism, Islam, Buddhism, Sikhism, Jainism, and Christianity (Pechilis & Raj, 2013). While such diversity exposes individuals to various practices, it is not without conflict. Again, using India as an example, there have been several instances of violence against Indian Muslims throughout the years, as the government pushes a Hindu Nationalist agenda, leading to further erasure of Islam and the freedom to practice religion peacefully (Pechilis & Raj, 2013; Ramachandran, 2020). The above examples attempt to shed some light on the complexity and

nuance that exists in the daily lives and narratives of people originally from South Asia. Thus, it is important to not view South Asia as one large monolith as it can be harmful when attempting to understand the complex aspects leading to experiences of oppression and harm. The previous historical inter-ethnic conflicts uphold the complicated relationships and attitudes individuals harbor toward one another (Pechilis & Raj, 2013). This complicates individuals' ability to seek connection within regional communities when moving into new environments. With such vast cultural identities present, the process of immigrating to a new country can induce a wholly different set of conflicts, contextual histories, and importantly, stress as a result of the drastic change.

While immigrating can already be incredibly stressful due to a variety of reasons including the need for legal travel documents, fleeing from natural disasters and political unrest, the concomitant need for individuals to integrate into new environments may heighten stress (Mehta, 1993; Siddiqui, 2022). This process, known as acculturation, is key for the positive experiences of immigrants within their new environment (Berry, 1992; Siddiqui, 2022). Acculturation can allow individuals to build community and confidence in the new host country while being able to retain traditional ethnocultural practices if they so wish (Berry, 1992; Mehta, 1993; Siddiqui, 2022). The Model of Acculturation, posited by J.W. Berry, suggests that there are two dimensions in this process; the first concerning the individual's propensity to retain or reject their native culture (Berry, 1992). The second-dimension concerns the individual's willingness to adopt or reject the host or new culture. Together, the various combinations of whether the individuals adopt/reject or retain/reject leads to the following four main acculturative strategies: assimilation, separation, integration, and marginalization (Berry, 1992). Typically, the challenges experienced when trying to adapt to a new culture, increase chances for individuals to experience acculturative stress (Berry, 1992; Siddiqui, 2022). Several factors of one's life change when immigrating to a new country, including but not limited to the types of food eaten, methods of transportation, language, and sociocultural practices or actions (Berry, 1992; Mehta, 1993). The level of ease an individual experiences in being able to adapt to their new cultural environment increases their ability to feel comfortable and adjusted to their new home, thus entering a positive acculturative experience. However, many individuals struggle to enter the process of acculturation due to barriers such as language differences. Individuals may experience discrimination in academic spaces or in the workplace on the basis of their language fluency or racial/ethnic background (Berry, 1992; Mehta, 1993). These experiences can increase feelings of isolation and acculturative stress.

Recent studies of the effects of racism on the mental health of Asian Americans have shown that racial discrimination is a notable factor in contributing to the mental health problems of this population (Gee et al., 2007; Kaduvettoor-Davidson & Inman, 2013; Tummala-Narra et al., 2012). Similarly in South Asians, an association between self-reported experiences of discrimination and risk of depression has been identified (Gee et al., 2007). However, its relationship to acculturative stress is minimally discussed. Together, experiences of discrimination are one example of how acculturative stress can be exacerbated and negatively impact one's day-to-day life, increasing the risk for mental health disorders, particularly depression, and the reduction of mental well-being factors such as self-esteem (Gee et al., 2007; Kaduvettoor-Davidson & Inman, 2013). Experiencing depression while also working to build a new life and community is incredibly difficult for individuals to experience, especially if there is a significant distance between family and other systems of social support. This can lead to feelings of isolation and increased risk for mental health disorders (Ahmad et al., 2005; Berry, 1992). The relationship between acculturative stress and mental health indicators has not been extensively studied among South Asians living in the United States, despite the rapid, continuous growth of the population. Particularly, less is known about South Asians living in ethnic enclaves such as Atlanta, Georgia which could be helpful to better understand how acculturative experiences differ between locations.

Understanding the relationship between experiences of acculturative stress and mental health indicators amongst South Asian individuals is crucial in informing the development of culturally relevant education and care interventions in the future. The rapidly growing South Asian population in the United States (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020) demonstrates the need to support the transition process in the country to further aid in becoming integrated with their community and the available resources. Understanding the relationship between acculturative stress, discrimination, and mental health indicators can help inform programming that targets South Asian communities intending to foster increased utilization of resources and ease the acculturation process (Kaduvettoor-Davidson & Inman, 2013; Siddiqui, 2022).

As the need to explore acculturative stress further within South Asian communities becomes more necessary and relevant, this thesis sought to explore the effects of acculturative stress and discrimination on perceived stress for South Asians living in Atlanta, Georgia as well as any potential interactions with socio-demographic variables. The hypothesis is that experiences of acculturative stress and discrimination are positively associated with higher levels of perceived stress.

# **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

### Mental Health Epidemiology

Mental health encompasses an individual's emotional, psychological, and social well-being which drives one's ability to handle stress, utilize coping strategies, and make decisions in their day-to-day lives. Mental health disorders impact an individual's behavioral, and/or emotional systems which can range from mild to severe levels of impairment (SAMHSA, 2023). An individual's mental health can be affected by a variety of factors. These include but are not limited to biological/genetic, feelings of loneliness or isolation, adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) such as sexual assault or witnessing violence, and lack of socioeconomic privilege (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023; SAMHSA, 2023). Mental illness is highly prevalent in the U.S. and of public health concern with approximately 1 in 5 Americans live with a mental disorder (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023). A study conducted in 2023 by the American Psychological Association (APA) demonstrated 45% of individuals living with a mental disorder, a 14% increase from 2019 (American Psychological Association, 2023).

Mental health statistics for South Asians are limited in literature. However, a study using NLAAS data in 2002, reported approximately 20% of South Asians met the criteria for an affective, anxiety, or substance disorder with about 13% for mood disorders and 11% for anxiety (Lubin & Khandai, 2016; Masood et al., 2009). A different study using NESARCH data reported that the lifetime prevalence of a mood disorder such as anxiety or depression was about 25% amongst South Asians in the United States (S. Y. Lee et al., 2015; Lubin & Khandai, 2016). Data relating to serious mental illness (SMI) such as bipolar disorder or schizophrenia, has still not been published which will be crucial to measure for culturally relevant treatment modalities.

## Immigration and Additional Mental Health Risk Factors

Individuals immigrating to a new environment carry several motivations and factors which contribute experiences of acculturation and acculturative stress. With more than 281 million individuals across the world living as immigrants, the growth of globalization has become widespread and has its benefits and detriments. Many individuals, such as refugees, have been displaced due to war and instability in their home country while other individuals choose to leave of their own volition for educational or employment opportunities (Choy et al., 2021). These motivations can represent an individual's ability to adapt and learn how to engage with the sociocultural practices of their new culture. However, depending on their access to resources such as shelter, food & water, healthcare, and communication devices such as a mobile phone, can positively impact an individual's mental health by facilitating connection and integration within their new cuture (Baeza-Rivera et al., 2022). Other factors include whether an individual can speak the new culture's language, access to social support such as through educational or employer networking opportunities, and the lack thereof can increase acculturative stress, or the level of stress and challenge an individual experiences when learning new cultural behaviors (Alegría et al., 2017; Choy et al., 2021). Acculturative stress can exhibit as loneliness, being discriminated against, and being feared of. The extent to which an individual experiences acculturative stress has a significant impact on one's mental health and their ability to thrive and acclimate to their new environment (Berry, 1992).

As of 2021, there are approximately 45 million people living in the United States who are immigrants, thus there are a multitude of distinct communities and cultures in which individuals find themselves needing to adapt to. Previous studies focusing on the impacts of discrimination and acculturation on Latino and Asian immigrants (Alegría et al., 2017) found those who have

experienced discrimination are more likely to present symptoms for psychiatric diagnosis. Further suggesting, that lower acculturation and thus increased acculturative stress increases the risk for suicidal ideation and attempts (Alegría et al., 2017).

The socio-demographic makeup of one's new environment can potentially affect the severity of psychological distress experienced. For example, a study focused on Arab Americans, which included individuals who identified as Muslim, non-White, and lived in an ethnic enclave (an area where a particular ethnic group is sparse, socially, and economically distant from the majority group) experienced increased discrimination compared to individuals who identified as Christian, white and lived outside the ethnic enclave (Abdulrahim et al., 2012). Furthermore, among Asian American immigrants, 45% reported experiencing acculturative stress as a result of discrimination, lack of language fluency, and race/ethnic origins (Lueck & Wilson, 2010). Individuals reporting experience of acculturative stress were at higher risk for lifetime incidence of major depressive disorder. Additional self-reported samples of individuals who immigrated to Chile from Colombia, Venezuela, and Haiti demonstrated approximately 46% of individuals reporting depressive symptoms, 62% reporting symptoms consistent with anxiety, and 72% stress (Baeza-Rivera et al., 2022).

## South Asians and Mental Health

In recent years, the South Asian population has risen tremendously, growing 50% between 2010-2020 for a total population of ~4.7 million individuals (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020). South Asians comprise of multiple ethnic identities including Indian, Pakistani, Afghan, Bhutanese, Nepali, Sri Lanka, Bengali, and Sri Lankan. The growth of South Asians in the United States has allowed for the establishment of several ethnic communities to increase access to cultural, retail businesses, and religious spaces. There is belief that South Asians are often successful and high

achieving indiviudals as they tend to occupy advanced positions in specialties such as healthcare or business and are also highly educated. (Masood et al., 2009). This can be traced to immigration policies in 1965 which 1) allowed for the migration of Asians into the United States again and 2) established a preference based system, providing increased opportunities to those with professional degrees (E. Lee, 2015; Masood et al., 2009). However, despite the optical success of several South Asian communities and individuals in the United States, due to the wide array of inter-ethnic differences and cultural modalities, the generalization fails to account for the several psychosocial and interpersonal challenges an individual may experience including the normalization of sexual and domestic violence, immigration-related stress, financials, and discrimination by other South Asians (Chandra et al., 2016; Bhandari, 2022). Additionally, the lack of knowledge surrounding the history of South Asians and other Asian individuals immigrating into the United States impacts and perpetuates the Model Minority Myth which upholds the supposed fact that all South Asians are successful (Siddiqui, 2022). The lack of nuance and intersectionality when observing the growth and cultures of South Asians within the United States increases the risk for mental health disorders as individuals feel as though they cannot reach out for help or admit their issues (Chandra et al., 2016).. Despite the staggering level of growth that has taken place over the past two decades, there is limited data available concerning the prevalence of mental health disorders among South Asians which further exacerbates untreated mental health disorders.

Mental health within South Asian cultures is traditionally a taboo subject with many families considering it to be false, accusing individuals of being 'crazy' or that they are affected by possession of sorts leading to the use of shamans and other religious leaders to 'rid' the person of their illness. With an inherent lack and difficulty of acceptance for mental health, it can be incredibly difficult to be open with family about one's health status and receive treatment. Primary factors impacting South Asian mental health are a variety of family factors, gender expectations, and societal expectations (Chandra et al., 2016; Loya et al., 2010). Majority of South Asian cultures place immense emphasis on the role of family and family structure. An individual is expected to be heavily involved with the family more than they are themselves, which can lead to minimizing pain or trauma leading to prioritizing family needs over personal needs, such as for personal or professional development goals that may be outside what the individual's family expects. Disruptions within relationships between immediate family members and/or extended family can lead to increased acute stress and feelings of isolation (Chandra et al., 2016; Karasz et al., 2019; Kramer et al., 2002).

Gender roles and expectations can also greatly impact the mental health of South Asian individuals, particularly women as several cultural attitudes and expectations are attempting to preserve a more conservative, traditional role of women in society. When an individual's internal desires and morals veer further away from the ethnocultural expectations of their family, this can lead to greater stress, anxiety, and even increased risk for suicide (Chandra et al., 2016; Kramer et al., 2002; Masood et al., 2009). As a result of needing to maintain familial and community expectations, these various stigmatizing and collectivist factors within South Asian culture further deter individuals from seeking help and treatment. Additionally, holding onto negative attitudes and perceptions towards mental health decreases awareness of symptoms which could lead to less self-identification and thus lower prevalence in the population (Chandra et al., 2016; Lubin & Khandai, 2016).

### Acculturation and Health Outcomes

The process of immigrating to an unfamiliar country can bring many challenges and stressors for the individual as they begin their new life. Several factors including, education level, existing health conditions, job security, and other socioeconomic factors can impact an immigrant's ability to thrive in their new environment (Lueck & Wilson, 2010). Acculturation is the process of change individuals and groups undergo as an adaptation to their new environmental and ethnocultural conditions (Lueck & Wilson, 2010; Teske & Nelson, 1974). During this process, individuals learn and begin adopting beliefs, behaviors, and values from the new culture while also holding onto and incorporating them with beliefs, behaviors, and values from their native culture. This occurs at both a group level (how the societal context of both cultures compare), as well as at the individual level or psychological acculturation, which refers to moderating factors contributing to shifts in behavior (Berry, 1992).

Undergoing acculturation can include learning the language of the new culture and adopting social behaviors such as how one dresses and greets one another, as well as modifying their dietary habits (Berry, 2005). It however also includes physical adaptations such as changes to one's type of living accommodation as well as an increase or decrease in population densities. Acculturation can occur at the societal level as well, where cultural change is modified on a macro-level as a byproduct of interacting with one or more cultures and societies (Berry, 2005; Teske & Nelson, 1974). Often times this is seen in changes to the structural, institutional, and widespread cultural practices of the native culture.

Acculturation has notably been observed in association with increased rates of obesity, with one study demonstrating increase in obesity among immigrant populations without a Bachelor's degree as the duration of their stay increased, potentially due to lacking knowledge of accessible, yet nutritious meals (Kaushal, 2009). The same study demonstrated an association with obesity and age of arrival into the Untied States; the younger the individual was, the more likely they would become obese. Among Asian immigrants, limited English proficiency is a major barrier in accessing health services as studies improved health with increased English proficiency (Gee et al., 2010). Increased length of stay in the United States was also associated with higher usage of cigarettes in Asian women (Kim & Gorman, 2022). Self-rated reports have demonstrated both a positive and negative relationship between acculturation and health, as age at migration and English proficiency tend to be a significant factor in achieving consistent positive results (Kim & Gorman, 2022).

# Acculturative Stress

Acculturative stress is the deteriorating status of an individual's mental and physical health because of the conflict and tensions experienced during the process of acculturation or their willingness to integrate with the new culture (Berry, 2005; Lueck & Wilson, 2010) The extent to which an individual experiences acculturative stress is dependent on the level of difference in cultural practices between the culture of origin and the new culture (Berry, 2005; Kwan & Sodowsky, 1997; Lueck & Wilson, 2010). According to Sadowsky and Lai's 1997 study exploring acculturative factors among Chinese immigrants, the results show that depending on length of residence in the new country, one's willingness or lack thereof to adapt can be a contributing factor to the level of acculturative stress experienced (Kwan & Sodowsky, 1997; Lueck & Wilson, 2010). If an individual has low levels of acculturation, their study demonstrated that higher levels of acculturative stress were experienced (Kwan & Sodowsky, 1997; Lueck & Wilson, 2010) Acculturative stress can manifest in several, particular ways including a decline in mental health, leading to an increase in depressive and anxiety symptoms, increased experiences with being marginalized or discriminated against (Berry, 1992, 2005; Lueck & Wilson, 2010). South Asians, like many other immigrant groups may find it difficult to maintain a diet upon arrival in the U.S. especially if residing in areas of the country where there is limited or no South Asian inventory in grocery stores. Implications for a shift to a Western diet include the risk of obesity and diabetes, leading to declining health (Lesser et al., 2014). Additionally, a significant factor for acculturative stress is the language barrier. Through the stress experienced as a by-product of the loss of a support system, foreign surroundings, and challenges with communication, Tummala-Narra & Deshpande, 2018 demonstrate links with mental health outcomes such as depression, anxiety, and substance use. Other studies demonstrate increased perceived stress among South Asians as a result of acculturative stress, potentially due to conflict between host culture and origin culture, which heightens the risk for developing full-scale mental health disorders in the future (Koneru et al., 2007).

## South Asians and Acculturative Stress

As South Asians comprise of various ethnic minorities within the U.S., the immigration process from their native country introduces the sociocultural phenomenon of acculturation, or the extent to which an individual is able to adapt to new cultural traditions or expectations while retaining and incorporating beliefs from their native country (Berry, 1992). Decreased ability to integrate within the new culture while also processing the difficult experience of migration can prevent individuals from being comfortably able to ask others for help or attempt to build a wider community which can increase feelings of loneliness and isolation (Alegría et al., 2017). Among South Asian immigrants, difficulty in language and communication, intergenerational conflict,

experiencing gender and racial-based discrimination, limited access to transportation, and accessing healthcare are primary features of the acculturative stress experienced by this population (Berry, 2005; Kramer et al., 2002; Samuel, 2009). Furthermore, increasing one's language skills is pertinent to aid in improving health literacy and medical knowledge. One study found that South Asians with increased language skills were able to reduce usage of fat products such as ghee (clarified butter) or oil the longer their residence was in the country, due to becoming increasingly aware of the negative health effects high usage of fats can lead to (Lesser et al., 2014).

## **Everyday Discrimination**

Experiences of everyday discrimination in a variety of environments including in the workplace or school, as a result of personal factors such as race, immigration status, religion, language, or gender increase an individual's acculturative stress. Overtime, repeated experiences of discrimination can increase the risk for adverse health outcomes such as cardiovascular issues and diabetes (Gee et al., 2007). Instances of racism and discrimination are a component of one's acculturative stress as it is an experience that disturbs the process of acculturation, increasing the difficulty of adaptation in other aspects of one's life, such as in building social support and cohesion (Tummala-Narra et al., 2012). Self-reported experiences of discrimination were found to have an increased risk for mental disorders including depression (Gee et al., 2007). Other studies looking into the experiences of perceived discrimination and everyday racism among South Asians have also noted the significant relationship between such adverse experiences and increased depressive symptomology (Siddiqui, 2022; Tummala-Narra et al., 2012) These cumulative negative experiences of discrimination increase the level of perceived stress during the acculturation process which further impedes the individual's ability to integrate.

## Mental Health

Various negative experiences during the acculturation process such as experiences of discrimination, difficulty with communication, accessing resources, and overall adjustment with a new culture lead to an increase in acculturative stress among South Asians (Siddiqui, 2022; Tummala-Narra et al., 2012). The amalgamation of such experiences over time can increase individuals' perceived stress and overall poor mental health. Negative social interactions between competing cultures and values, or reduced quality of life such as poverty, increase the difficulty in navigating and integrating with the environment which can increase the risk for increased psychological distress, clinical depression, and stress (Hwang & Ting, 2008; Karasz et al., 2019). One study looking into refugee populations who re-settled in Australia and Austria found associations between language barriers and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and anxiety (Kartal & Kiropoulos, 2016). Social support is a primary factor in mediating acculturative stress as the presence of social networks can help ease individuals' integration into the host culture and reduce experiences of distress (Baeza-Rivera et al., 2022; Berry, 1997). A lack of social support and decreased opportunities for connection are more prevalent during migratory processes, especially if an individual's new host environment is not diverse ethnically, which can further increase the prevalence of mental health symptomology, such as depression and anxiety, due to feelings of isolation (Baeza-Rivera et al., 2022; Ra, 2023).

## Theoretical Background and Grounding: Berry's Model of Acculturation

In 1992, psychologist John Berry introduced the theory behind acculturation and acculturative stress. To explain how whether an individual will be behaving as they did prior to moving to the new environment, Berry developed the acculturation model to explain different constructs and factors which may impact the cultural transition (Berry, 1992). Underlying the larger conceptual constructs and model are two main issues which include cultural maintenance and contact and participation. Cultural maintenance is the extent to which individuals prioritize their cultural identity and decide which factors are important to their maintenance. Contact and participation is if the individual is willing to become further involved and integrate themselves among other cultural groups unfamiliar to them. These two concepts guide the four primary acculturation strategies proposed by Berry which include Assimilation, Separation, Integration, and Marginalization (Berry, 1992, 1997).

Assimilation refers to an individual who is not interesting in maintaining their native cultural habits and instead seeks to learn and maintain behaviors of other cultures. Separation occurs when an individual does not wish to interact with others outside of their native culture as they wish to maintain all behaviors associated with their cultural identity. Integration is when an individual is compelled to maintain behaviors of both their new culture as well as maintaining a certain extent of cultural integrity. Finally, marginalization occurs when the individual experiences cultural loss of their native culture due to no desire for maintenance and there is little motivation to begin integrating within the new environment either, whether it be due to discrimination or other negative social interactions (Berry, 1992, 1997). With these four strategies combined, Berry develops the conceptual model for acculturation through several constructs, split up into group-level construct and individual-level variables. The first group-level construct is 'Society of Origin'

referring to the individual's original cultural environment and the context in which they were in, including political unrest, natural disasters, and poor economy. 'Society of Settlement' refers to the new environment in which the individual will be moving (Berry, 1992, 1997, 2001)fig and considers several factors such as attitudes towards immigrants, availability of supportive resources, historical contexts, attitudes towards diversity, and cultural pluralism are important to be considered when attempting to understand the various contexts that may greatly impact positive acculturative experiences. 'Group Acculturation' refers to the many avenues individuals who immigrate may have to implement changes to better adapt to their new environment (Berry, 1992, 1997, 2001). These avenues include physical changes such as urbanization, economic changes as there may be difficulties in obtaining employment, biological changes such as with diet, and overall health implications (Berry, 1992).

On the individual level, there are moderating factors prior to acculturation (i.e. age, gender, education level, language proficiency, and status) and moderating factors during acculturation (i.e. length of time spent living in new environment, social support and societal attitudes. Through the center of the model, five more constructs are included to present the process beginning from the experience of acculturation itself and moving towards overall long-term outcomes (Berry, 1992). The five constructs can be broadly described as psychological acculturation, and include acculturation experience (life events), appraisal of experience (stressors), strategies used (coping strategies), immediate effects (stress reactions), and long-term outcomes (adaptation). Together, these constructs develop the Berry conceptual framework for studying and further understanding acculturation (Berry, 1992, 1997). It is important to note that in addition, there are three sub-processes known as culture shedding, culture learning and culture conflict. Culture shedding is either the accidental or deliberate act of leaving behind certain behaviors and practices in order to

better fit into society. Culture learning occurs soon after and is when the individual learns the behaviors and teachings within the society of settlement to replace the behaviors lost. The extent to which an individual is involved with these two constructs is dependent on the motivations for moving to the new environment as well as their experiences with acculturation and strategies to further assimilate (Berry, 1992, 1997). At times, cultural learning and culture shedding can lead to a state of conflict and stress, known as culture conflict, which is when there are challenges and a level of incompatibility between the society of settlement and the society of origin which creates certain difficulties and dissonance within the individual as their beliefs are challenged (Berry, 1992, 1997). This experience of conflict and stress under the context of acculturation leads to the process known as acculturative stress which increases the risk for immigrant populations to experience additional physical and mental health problems (Berry, 1992, 1997, 2005).



Figure 1 is adapted from Berry's 1992 model of acculturation in which the process is divided into constructs including contextual determinants such as characteristics of the new environment, and several constructs under individual determinants including being framed by moderating factors prior to acculturation which encompasses an individual's level of education, their religion and level of religiosity, cultural group and marital status to name a few and moderating factors during acculturation such as status of employment and English language appraisal. The following constructs depict their new life events following migration contributing to acculturation, potential stressors that increase the difficulty of integration and adaptation, coping strategies used, and the immediate effects from the stressors such as health outcomes like increased stress. This model was adapted to better represent the survey population of this study and the information collected through the survey. Bolded factors within the constructs were collected in the survey and can be used to further explain the patterns and outcomes of acculturative stress.

# **CHAPTER 3: METHODS**

### Study Design

This study sought to understand the impact of acculturative stress on the mental health of South Asians living in the Greater Atlanta area. Specifically, we examined: 1) If there is an association between everyday discrimination and perceived stress 2) if there is an association between acculturative stress and perceived stress, and 3) as an additional investigative question, if there are associations between sociodemographic variables and discrimination and acculturative stress. The data collection method for this study was primary data collection through online, crosssectional survey developed through Emory University School of Medicine's Mind & Heart Lab in the Department of Family & Preventative Medicine. This survey was developed using REDCap software in part of a larger study called the South Asian Healthy Aging Research (SAHAR) project which aims to collect data across a wide array of variables including demographic information, health literacy, perceptions of aging/dementia, and acculturative stress factors along with mental health responses. This study was approved through Emory IRB.

## **Participants and Sampling Procedures**

Study inclusion factors during the first stage of survey dissemination included being 18 and older, residing in Georgia, and self-identifying as South Asian. Completion of the full online survey resulted in participants receiving a \$25 gift card. Initial survey dissemination began January of 2023 and was accomplished through convenience sampling across Emory University student and professional networks which was a successful route of implementation reaching 50 completed surveys within 2 weeks. Due to reaching a high proportion of individuals within the 18-29 age range, the criteria for the study were changed to must be 30 or older to prevent over-representation

of younger populations. Once individuals accessed the survey, additional security and screening measures are implemented to improve validity of responses. These included a reCAPTCHA security screen to reduce the risk of bots accessing the survey as well as a participant screening section. This section included the following yes-no questions 1) Are you South Asian or South Asian-American? 2) Are you at least 30 years of age? 3) Can you read and speak in English? 4) Do you currently reside in Georgia? Other recruitment methods included marketing the study to local mosques and temples, handing out flyers to South Asian businesses such as grocery stores and restaurants, engaging with local Atlanta South Asian organizations, and attending South Asian events within the Greater Atlanta area. In addition, through data acquired from Emory Patient Health Records, 400 South Asian households in Georgia were sent letters from a mailing list with information regarding the study as well as a QR code to participate if interested. Potential participants from the mailing list were also called with study information to increase the chances of survey participation.

### Measures

#### Demographic Variables

Demographic variables used in analysis were sex/gender (male; female; non-binary), ethnicity (Indian; Pakistani; Nepali; Bengali; Bhutanese; Sri Lankan; Afghan; Other [openended]), level of education (grade school or less; some high school; high school graduate or G.E.D.; some college or technical school; college graduate; graduate degree; prefer not to answer), employment status (full-time work; part-time work; homemaker; unemployed; retired; prefer not to answer), place of birth (United States; Afghanistan; Bangladesh; India; Nepal; Pakistan; Sri Lanka; other) level of English proficiency (speaking, reading, and writing), and marital status (single; married; living with a partner; separated or divorced; widowed; prefer not to answer).

#### Independent Variables

#### Discrimination:

Five questions from the Everyday Discrimination Scale (expanded, short version, 6 questions) (Williams et al., 1997) were used in a Likert scale, asking about individuals' experiences with discrimination. Questions included asking if participants were treated with less courtesy than others, receiving poorer service in retail environments, individuals assuming a lack of intelligence, and any experiences of fear from others or harassment. Response options included "almost everyday", "at least once a week", "a few times a month", "a few times a year", "less than once a year", and "never" (1 = almost everyday to 6 = never). Participants were additionally asked to specify the primary root cause if any of the events listed happened "a few times a year" or more frequently (Williams et al., 1997). These response options included ancestry or national origins, gender, race, age, religion, height, weight, other aspects to physical appearance, sexual orientation, and education or income level. To score, responses to items were reverse coded so that 1) scores matched with the validated questionnaires and ranged from 0-5 and 2) so that fewer instances reflected lower scores while frequent instances reflected higher scores and thus higher levels of everyday discrimination. Scores ranged from 0 to 25; tertials were used to determine high, medium, and low levels of discrimination (0-7=low, 8-16=medium, and 17-25=high). The variable was dichotomized into a categorical binary variable so that there were two categories: high discrimination and medium/low discrimination. These were created by combining scores greater than or equal to 17 into one category and combining medium and low into one category.

The validated Riverside Acculturative Stress Inventory (Benet-Martínez & Haritatos, 2005) was used to ask participants about their experiences with acculturative stress across interpersonal, intellectual, professional, and structural pressures. Originally developed for Latino populations, the instrument has shown reliable and consistent results among Asian-Americans as well (Miller et al., 2011). Rated on a 5-point Likert scale, these five questions included asking participants whether they felt their Asian background was a limitation when looking for a job, feeling misunderstood or limited due to English skills, feeling that their cultural practices created conflict within relationships, being interpreted based on stereotypes of Asians, and feeling isolated when they are the only Asian person in a room. The response options included "strongly agree", "agree", "neutral", "disagree", and "strongly disagree" (1 = strongly agree to 5 = strongly disagree) (Benet-Martínez & Haritatos, 2005). To score, responses to items were reverse coded so that 1) scores matched with the validated questionnaires and ranged from 0 to 4 and 2) so that fewer instances reflected lower scores while frequent instances reflected higher scores and thus higher levels of acculturative stress. Scores were calculated by summing the responses from all items within the domain (Benet-Martínez & Haritatos, 2005; Merced et al., 2022). Scores ranged from 0 to 20; tertials were used to determine high, medium, and low levels of acculturative stress (0-6=low, 7-13=medium, and 14-20=high). Once the scale was determined, the variable was dichotomized into a categorical binary variable so that there were two categories: high acculturative stress and medium/low acculturative stress. These were created by combining scores from the high category into one category (greater than or equal to 14) and combining medium and low into one category (less than or equal to 13).

#### Dependent Variable

#### Perceived Stress:

Four questions from the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) (Cohen et al., 1983) were used for the survey in a Likert scale format with four questions asking individuals about the frequency of daily stressful experiences. Questions included how often within the past month they felt unable to control important things in life, their ability to manage personal problems, whether they felt life was going as planned, and how often they felt like their difficulties could not be overcome. Response options for participants included "never", "almost never", "sometimes", "fairly often", and "often" (1 = never to 5 = very often) (Cohen et al., 1983). Items 1 and 4 were re-coded so 1 =0 (never) and 5 = 4 (very often). Items 2 and 3 were reverse scored so 1=4 (very often) and 5=0(never). This was done as these items focus on individuals' ability and confidence to work through their day-to-day lives, where reporting low occurrences of confidence is associated with higher stress. were then summed for a total score to represent this outocome. Scores can range 0 - 16(Cohen et al., 1983). Similar tertial methodology as demonstrated by (Cohen et al., 1983) was used to create high, medium, and low perceived stress categories, which included 0-2=low, 3-5=medium, 6-8=high). Once the scale was determined, the variable was dichotomized into a categorical binary variable so that there were two categories: high acculturative stress and medium/low acculturative stress. These were created by combining scores from the high category into one category (greater than or equal to 6) and combining medium and low into one category (less than or equal to 5).

Socio-demographic variables were also re-coded so that new binary, categorical variables were created for analysis between independent and dependent variables. Re-coding processes followed similar methodology as previous variables, however, no reverse scoring was performed. Age was re-coded into three main groups: 18-29, 30-49, and 50+ to account for primary stages of life. Ethnicity was re-coded based off of the top three ethnicities represented which included 'Indian', 'Bengali', and 'Pakistani+Other SA Groups. Due to minimal representation among the other South Asian ethnicities such as Nepali and Bhutanese, they were combined with the Pakistani category to create 'Pakistani+All' so that all participants could be included into analysis. Employment status was divided into 'Employed' (full-time + part-time) and 'Unemployed' (homemaker, unemployed, retired, other, prefer not to answer). Other and prefer not to answer were included in the 'Unemployed' category due to small sample representation. Marital status was simplified to 'Married' (Married) and 'Unmarried' (single + living with a partner + separated or divorced + widowed + prefer not to answer). Education was divided into 'College or Higher Degree' (some college + college + graduate) and "High school and Lower' (grade school + some high school + high school/GED + prefer not to answer). English proficiency for reading, writing, and speaking was originally scored with response options including 'Very Well' 'Well' 'Some' 'A little bit' and 'Not at all'. These were then further categorized into High ('Very Well' + Well') and Low ('Some' + 'A little bit' + 'Not at all') English proficiency for speaking, reading, and writing. Gender was divided into male and female, one non-binary participant was excluded for privacy concerns and ease of analysis. Finally, birth place was also divided into two groups, 'Born in the United States' and 'Not Born in the United States'. With these binary variables created, Fisher's

Exact Test and logistic regression was able to be performed more accurately with increased strength in results.

# Analysis Plan

Demographic variables of interest were first coded using SAS into cross-tabulation tables to demonstrate descriptive statistics and to show population features. Missing variables were accounted for. Once grouped into categories, Fisher's Exact test was performed instead of Chi-Squared due to the small sample size and uneven distribution. Logistic regression was performed afterward between the independent variables discrimination and acculturative stress and the dependent variable perceived stress to further determine more conclusive results on whether there was an association between the independent and dependent variables. Additional associations between socio-demographic variables and the independent variables were conducted to observe any salient relationships which could be used as control variables for the logistic regression model.

# **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

## **Demographics:**

Data from 149 participants was analyzed for the demographic portion of the survey which is provided in further detail in Table 1. The top three ethnicities represented by respondents include Indian (41.2%), Bengali (37.8%), and Pakistani (12.8%). Participants included 47.3% male with 52.7% female. The bulk of survey participants were between the ages of 30-59, with 35 individuals (23.5%) aged between 30-39 individuals, 39 individuals (26.2%) aged between 40-49, and 32 individuals (21.4%) aged between 50-59. Over half of survey respondents reported currently working full-time jobs (55.7%) with 19.5% working part-time and 6.7% unemployed. The sample was well educated with 36.2% of individuals holding a college degree while 31.5% holding a graduate or professional level degree as well. The majority of the respondents were married (77.9%) while 14.8% were single, followed by 2.7% separated/divorced and 2% widowed. More than half of participants can speak English very well (54%), while 58% can read and write English very well. Thus, the participant sample is primarily middle-aged or older, with the majority being college-educated or higher, working in full-time jobs, and highly proficient in English. The attributes of the sample population may influence participants' attitudes toward their responses and the overall outcomes as well.

Age	Male N (%)	Female N (%)	n (%)
18-29	7 (4.7)	14 (9.4)	22 (14.1)
30-39	22 (14.8)	13 (8.7)	35 (23.5)
40-49	17 (11.4)	22 (14.8)	39 (26.2)
50-59	12 (8)	20 (13.4)	32 (21.4
60-69	8 (5.4)	6 (4)	14 (9.4)
70+	4 (2.7)	2 (1.3)	6 (4)
Birth Place			
Born in the United States	21 (14.1)	23 (15.4)	45 (30.2)
Born Outside of United States	49 (32.9)	54 (36.2)	103 (69.1)
Ethnicity			
Indian	31 (20.8)	29 (19.5)	61 (40.9)
Pakistani	9 (6.04)	10 (6.7)	19 (12.8)
Nepali	3 (2.01)	6 (4.03)	9 (6.04)
Bengali	25 (16.8)	31 (20.8)	56 (37.6)
Bhutanese	0 (0)	2 (1.34)	2 (1.34)
Sri Lankan	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.7)
Afghan	1 (0.7)	1 (0.7)	2 (1.34)
Other	1 (0.7)	0 (0)	1 (0.7)
High English Proficiency			
Speaking	62 (41.6)	58 (38.9)	121 (81.2)
Reading	64 (43.0)	60 (40.3)	125 (83.9)
Writing	60 (40.3)	62 (41.6)	123 (82.6)
Low English Proficiency			
Speaking	8 (5.4)	19 (12.8)	27 (18.1)
Reading	6 (4.0)	17 (11.4)	23 (15.4)
Writing	10 (6.7)	15 (10.1)	25 (16.8)

Employment Status			
Full-time work	46 (30.1)	37 (24.8)	83 (55.7)
Part-time work	11 (7.4)	17 (11.4)	29 (19.5)
Homemaker	0 (0)	9(6)	9 (6)
Unemployed	3 (2)	7 (4.7)	10 (6.7)
Retired	6 (4)	3 (2)	9 (6)
Other	3 (2.01)	1 (0.7)	4 (1.4)
Prefer not to Answer	1 (0.67)	3 (2.01)	4 (2.7)
Marital Status			
Single	6 (4)	15 (10)	22 (14.8)
Married	60 (40.3)	56 (37.6)	116 (77.9)
Living with a Partner	1 (0.7)	1 (0.7)	2 (1.3)
Separated or Divorced	3 (2)	1 (0.7)	4 (2.7)
Widowed	0 (0)	3 (2)	3 (2)
Prefer not to Answer	0	1 (0.7)	1 (0.7)
Education			
Grade School	0 (0)	2 (1.3)	2 (1.3)
Some High School	1 (0.7)	5 (3.4)	6 (4.0)
High School Graduate or GED	8(5.4)	9 (6)	17 (11.4)
Some College or Technical School	10 (6.7)	9 (6)	19 (12.8)
College graduate	28 (18.8)	31 (20.8)	54 (36.2)
Graduate Degree (Masters) and/or Professional Degree (Doctorate)	28 (18.8)	19 (12.8)	47 (31.5)
Prefer not to Answer	1 (0.7)	2 (1.3)	3 (2)

\*1 non-binary individual who was removed from data presentation for identity protection
## Analysis:

#### Instrument Scores

Three instruments were chosen for analysis: the Everyday Discrimination Scale (EDS), the Riverside Acculturative Stress Inventory (RASI), and the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) with 146 fully completed surveys (missing = 3). The following instrument scores were derived using the non-dichotomized, continuous variables to obtain the necessary numerical outcomes. Scores for the EDS ranged from 0-25, with 25 being the highest score a participant could receive. The mean score for everyday discrimination was 13.3, with the median score was 16 (Table 2). Using the tertials created for scoring (0-7=low, 8-16=medium, and 17-25=high), these scores suggest that the sample experienced primarily medium levels of discrimination, with score outliers of 0 potentially lowering the overall mean score. Scores for RASI ranged from 0-20, with 20 being the highest score a participant could receive. The mean score for acculturative stress was 14.2, with a median score of 15. Tertials were used again to assist with the categorization of results (0-6=low, 7-13=medium, and 14-20=high) meaning the majority of participants experienced medium levels of acculturative stress. Similar to the EDS, results were affected by participants who experienced 0 discrimination potentially skewing the results of the mean. Scores for the PSS ranged from 3-8, with 8 being the highest score a participant could receive. The mean score for perceived stress was 6.3 with a median of 6. Tertials were used once again for this scale as well (0-2=low, 3-5=medium, 6-8=high) meaning the general sample population experienced high levels of perceived stress. It is important to note that no participant reported experiencing zero levels of perceived stress as the lowest score observed for this sample was 3, which places the baseline stress level as medium at minimum.

Binary variables of the same instruments (discrimination, acculturative stress, and perceived stress) had two categories, high and medium/low to allow for categorical analysis. Results of binary descriptive statistics show 53.4% of participants experiencing medium/low levels of discrimination and 46.6% experiencing high levels of discrimination. 76% of sample reported experiencing high levels of acculturative stress while only 23.9% reported medium/low levels. Finally, an astonishing 91.8% of the sample reported experiencing high levels of stress, while only 8.2% reported medium/low levels.

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics of Utilized Instruments					
Instrument	Mean	Median	High Discrimination/Acculturative Stress/Perceived Stress N(%)	<b>Med/Low</b> Discrimination/Acculturative Stress/Perceived Stress N(%)	
Everyday Discrimination	13.3	16	68 (46.6)	78 (53.4)	
Acculturative Stress	14.2	15	111 (76.0)	35 (23.9)	
Perceived Stress	6.3	6	134 (91.8)	12 (8.2)	

#### Fisher's Exact Test

Due to the small sample size, the study conditions did not meet the assumptions necessary for Chi-Square Analysis as the cells were not distributed to an outcome of  $\geq$ 5, thus Fisher's Exact Test was chosen as the appropriate measure to determine the significance of the variable's relationships and independence. Fisher's test was performed against both binary independent and dependent variables to determine if there was a preliminary relationship prior to conducting logistic regression (Table 3). Binary independent variables for discrimination (BINDV1) (Table 3a) and acculturative stress (BINDV2) (Table 3c) were run against both dependent variables for perceived stress (Stress).

Results of Fisher's test against variables discrimination and perceived stress demonstrated a significant relationship (p < 0.02), suggesting that individuals with increased experiences of discrimination are more likely to report higher levels of perceived stress (OR, 4.85; confidence interval [CI]: 1.02, 22.99). Fisher's Test was also conducted against the variable for discrimination and several socio-demographic variables (Table 3b) including employment status, birthplace, English speaking, writing, and reading proficiency, education level, and gender. Employment status and birthplace were significantly associated (p < .02; p < .0006) with everyday discrimination suggesting that being employed (OR, 2.74; CI: 1.2, 6.2) and born in the United States (OR, 3.83; CI: 1.8, 8,1) increases risk for experiencing everyday discrimination. Two age groups, 30-49 and 50+ were also significantly associated with everyday discrimination (p < .0001; p < .0018). Individuals between the ages of 30-49 are at higher risk of experiencing everyday discrimination (OR, 3.95; CI: 1.98, 7.87) while individuals in the age group 50+ have less risk associated (OR, 0.31; CI: 0.15, 0.65). The relationship between acculturative stress and perceived stress was not significant ( p < .48) despite high representation of individuals experiencing both high acculturative stress and high perceived stress (n=103). Despite the lack of significance, attention to odds ratio points to the potential increased risk of experiencing perceived stress as a result of acculturative stress. (OR, 1.66; CI: 0.47, 5.9). Like discrimination, Fisher's Test was used against acculturative stress and socio-demographic variables (Table 3d) which demonstrated several significant relationships. Individuals who have high English speaking (p < .025) (OR, 0.21; CI: 0.05, 0.93) writing (P<0.042) (OR, 0.23; CI: 0.05, 1.04), and reading proficiency (p < .016) (OR, 0.12; CI: 0.02, 0.92), are aged between 18-29, (OR, 0.17; CI: 0.06, 0.45) (p < .0004) and within the ethnic group Pakistani+All (OR, 0.33; CI: 0.14, 0.77) (p < .02) are at lower risk of experiencing acculturative stress. n the other hand, age group 30-49 (p < .05) (OR, 2.34; CI: 1.06, 5.16) and ethnicity Bengali (p < .01) (OR, 3.16; CI: 1.27, 7.85) are at higher risk of experiencing acculturative stress.

Table 3a. Fisher's Exact Test of Associations (Everyday Discrimination & Perceived Stress)							
Variable	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>	P-Value				
BINDV1	4.85	1.02, 22.99	0.02				
Table 3b. Fisher's Exact Test of Associations (Everyday Discrimination & Demographics)							
Demographic Variable	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>	2-sided P-Value				
Employment Status	2.74	1.2, 6.2	0.02				
Birth Place	3.83	1.8, 8.1	0.0006				
English Speaking Proficiency	0.64	0.28, 1.49	0.39				
English Writing Proficiency	0.63	0.27, 1.51	0.38				
English Reading Proficiency	0.62	0.25, 1.53	0.36				
Education Level	0.59	0.26, 1.36	0.29				
Gender	0.63	0.33, 1.22	0.19				
Age							
18-29	0.52	0.20, 1.39	0.24				
30-49	3.95	1.98, 7.87	0.0001				
50+	0.31	0.15, 0.65	0.0018				
Ethnicity							
Indian	1.26	0.65, 2.44	0.5				
Bengali	0.62	0.31, 1.22	0.18				
Pakistani + All							
Other Ethnicities	1.52	0.69, 3.38	0.32				

\*3 missing

Table 3c. Fisher's Exact Test of Associations (Acculturative Stress & Perceived Stress)					
Variable	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>	P-Value		
BINDV2	1.66	0.47, 5.9	0.48		
		ct Test of Associa & Demographic			
Demographic Variable	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>	2-sided P-Value		
Employment Status	1.66	0.71, 3.87	0.26		
Birth Place	1.15	0.50, 2.66	0.83		
English Speaking Proficiency	0.21	0.05, 0.93	0.025		
English Writing Proficiency	0.23	0.05, 1.04	0.042		
English Reading Proficiency	0.12	0.02, 0.92	0.016		
Education Level	0.32	0.09, 1.14	0.08		
Gender	0.83	0.38, 1.8	0.7		
Age					
18-29	0.17	0.06, 0.45	0.0004		
30-49	2.34	1.06, 5.16	0.05		
50+	1.28	0.57, 2.88	0.69		
Ethnicity					
Indian	0.91	0.42, 1.96	0.84		
Bengali	3.16	1.27, 7.85	0.01		
Pakistani + All					
Other Ethnicities	0.33	0.14, 0.77	0.02		

\*3 missing

#### Logistic Regression

Logistic regression was performed (Table 4a) between discrimination and the outcome of perceived stress, using 'High Discrimination' as the reference, which demonstrated a statistically significant relationship (p < .046) meaning experiencing lower levels of discrimination is associated with lowered odds in reporting higher levels of perceived stress. Multiple-variable logistic regression was performed utilizing perceived stress as the outcome and significant variables from Fisher's Exact test (employment status, birthplace, age 30-49 and 50+). None were found to be significantly associated. However, interactions did not demonstrate any significant impact on the OR of the discrimination variable (OR, 0.24; CI: 0.048, 1.24). An interesting relationship to not despite lack of significance is that the 30-49 age group and 50+ carry an increased risk of outcomes of perceived stress, (OR, 1.58; CI: 0.23, 11.02); (OR, 1.1; CI: 0.14, 8.26) while being born outside of the US, (OR, 0.61, CI: 0.09, 4.11) decreases risk of perceived stress.

Logistic regression for acculturative stress and perceived stress were not significant (Table 4c) (p < .43), however, an OR of 0.6 suggests lowered odds of experiencing perceived stress as a result of lower levels of acculturative stress. Multiple-variable regression with sociodemographic variables and acculturative stress were also not reported to have a significant relationship.

Table 4a. Logistic RegressionPerceived Stress vs. Discrimination							
Variable	DF	Estimate	Standard Error	<u>Pr &gt; ChiSq</u>	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>	
Intercept	1	3.5	0.71	<0.0001	-	-	
Discrimination (REF=1)	1	-1.58	0.79	0.046	0.21	0.043, 0.98	
	N	/ultiple-Var	iable Logistic R	egression			
Variable		<u>Estimate</u>	Standard Error	<u>Pr &gt; ChiSq</u>	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>	
Intercept	1	<u>2.9</u>	0.58	<0.0001	-	-	
Discrimination	1	-0.7	0.41	0.09	0.24	0.048, 1.24	
		Pred	ictors (REF = 1	)			
Employment Status	1	0.19	0.36	0.6	1.47	0.35, 6.14	
Birth Place	1	-0.25	0.49	0.6	0.61	0.09, 4.11	
Age							
30-49 (REF=0)		0.23	0.5	0.65	1.58	0.23, 11.02	
50+ (REF=0)		0.04	0.52	0.93	1.1	0.14, 8.26	

\*3 missing

Table 4b. Logistic RegressionPerceived Stress vs. Acculturative Stress								
Variable	<u>DF</u>	Estimate	Standard Error	<u>Pr &gt; ChiSq</u>	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>		
Intercept	1	2.3	0.32	<0.0001	-	-		
Acculturative Stress (REF=1)	1	0.25	0.32	0.43	0.6	0.17, 2.13		
Multiple-Variable Logistic Regression								
Variable	DF	Estimate	Standard Error	<u>Pr &gt; ChiSq</u>	<u>OR</u>	<u>95% CL</u>		
Intercept	1	2.7	0.63	<0.0001	-	-		
Acculturative Stress	1	-0.24	0.52	0.47	0.61	0.16, 2.3		
			Predictors					
English Speaking Proficiency	1	0.44	0.76	0.56	2.42	0.12, 48.2		
English Writing Proficiency	1	0.16	0.84	0.84	1.38	0.05, 36.4		
English Reading Proficiency	1	0.01	0.73	0.99	1.02	0.06, 17.6		
Bengali	1	0.26	0.33	0.61	1.68	0.46, 6.17		

# **CH. 5 DISCUSSION**

#### **Results Compared to Literature**

The results from this study illuminated many experiences and outcomes from the sample population. Firstly, despite the high levels of English proficiency, education, and employment, all of which should be protective factors against experiencing discrimination and perceived stress, the sample population represents high levels of discrimination, acculturative stress, and perceived stress. Existing literature demonstrates that increased length of time in the United States increases perceived stress among South Asians, (Siddiqui, 2022; Uppaluri et al., 2001) potentially due to broader social forces and factors determining acculturation, however further research is needed. The high prevalence of perceived stress as a result of discrimination among this study sample urges for the development of stress-mitigating interventions for South Asians in the Great Atlanta Metropolitan area. Several studies have demonstrated the significant association between experiences of discrimination to perceived stress which have contributed to increased risk for diagnosis of mental health disorders (Kaduvettoor-Davidson & Inman, 2013; Karasz et al., 2019; Siddiqui, 2022; Tummala-Narra et al., 2012). Thus, the development of culturally relevant programs is imperative to reduce stress among the South Asian population, however further research is needed to develop an appropriate implementation plan.

Although proven not significant through analysis, the outcome that there is lowered risk among individuals with higher English proficiency is also seen in the literature (Gee et al., 2010; Kim & Gorman, 2022) and is reflective of the acculturation model as well. This suggests how existing or developing proficiency of the host culture's language can ease the individual further into the integration stage of acculturation (Berry, 1992, 1997), reducing risk of perceived stress. However, this calls for the need to improve access and awareness of English-learning programs and translation services in several community spaces to improve outcomes for individuals who are struggling to navigate their new lives as a result of a language barrier. The primary result of this study is the fact that there is a significant relationship between discrimination and perceived stress. In this case, it is presented as a protective factor where experiencing less discrimination leads to lower odds of perceived stress. Several studies in the literature have looked into the impacts of discrimination on perceived stress (Gee et al., 2007; Koneru et al., 2007; Siddiqui, 2022), however, the researchers chose to report that increased discrimination was met with increased perceived stress. This result was also seen in backend analysis for this study however a protective perspective was chosen to demonstrate a resilience narrative and report if less harm experienced has an impact as well, which can be useful for targeted development of interventions to improve outcomes.

## Acculturative Stress Variable Anomaly: Statistical Snag

During primary analysis, both the Fisher's Test and logistic regression analysis did not show any significance between acculturative stress and perceived stress. This was an unexpected finding due to frequency distribution tables demonstrating a high number of participants who experienced both high acculturative stress and high perceived stress (n=103) while only 31 participants reported experiencing high perceived stress and low acculturative stress. To further investigate, scatter plots of the continuous, non-binary variables were conducted to check the distribution of numbers but did not provide sufficient information to further help elucidate. Potential explanations for this lack of significance despite high prevalence could be as a result of a small sample size and unequal distributions of the observations across the cells which prevented accurate statistical analysis from occurring. Another potential explanation could be the types of measures used to capture perceived and acculturative stress. As the survey was not designed initially to capture these concepts, the lack of stronger items could have made it difficult for participants to parse the difference between the two, leading to conflating answers. Further research among a larger sample population should be done to determine any existing significance. As mentioned earlier, despite this lack of statistical significance, the prevalence shows that the majority of the sample population experiences both high acculturative stress and high perceived stress thus there needs to be intervention for this population to educate on how to manage stress but also manage pathways that lead to increased acculturative stress in a culturally relevant manner.

### **Implications and Future Directions**

The results of this study have several implications for future public health work. First, the presence of high acculturative stress, perceived stress, and discrimination among the study sample calls for the development of immigrant-specific interventions to further aid with the transition during the moving process and continued residency. In a similar vein, there needs to be culturally relevant interventions for all South Asians living in the United States to manage the high levels of acculturative and perceived stress to prevent exacerbating growing rates of health issues such as poor mental health. Mental health stigma is a documented issue within the South Asian community however persistent levels of stress will make the situation only worse, education of its effects and the reality for many must be educated to this population (Loya et al., 2010). Additionally, the results from this study reflect existing literature within this field, which further contributes to the availability and knowledge of how South Asian's are experiencing their day to day lives. However, despite the results, additional studies must be done to expand upon findings using a larger population and participant base so that overall health among South Asians can improve as there is consistent growth which does not appear to be slowing down anytime soon. Existing literature

focused on these constructs with a South Asian population base is limited and has not used current data, thus reducing the availability of impact and effects. This study shines a small light on the current-day impacts of acculturative stress and discrimination on the perceived stress of South Asians through its recent, cross-sectional methodology.

Future studies should focus on improving recruitment methodology to increase the total number of participants for more sound and valid data, and to increase representation of South Asians in public health research. Future studies should also focus on metrics concerning mental health and mental health disorders through validated questionnaires to obtain results concerning associations with acculturative stress, perceived stress, discrimination, and mental health outcomes. This would provide an improved perspective on the solidified impact of how and if acculturative stress, perceived stress, and discrimination contribute to the increased prevalence of mental health disorders. Additionally, future studies should expand acculturation and acculturative stress in the survey to include length of stay in the United States, whether they hold a visa, are a citizen, have a green card, or are undocumented, with additional acculturative stress experience outcomes to result in stronger, more reliable scores and associations.

#### Strengths and Limitations

This study had strengths including contributing to South Asian public health research through providing current, cross-sectional results in a specific geographical area. Research with South Asians is limited and community-oriented studies are even more difficult to come by, the results of this study, although a small sample size, shed light into the experiences of South Asians in Atlanta, Georgia, and how different socio-demographic factors can either increase or decrease overall perceived stress. Additionally, this study disaggregates the data by ethnicity, which is also a limitation across the current literature. Demonstrating and using ethnicity in data collection and analysis prevents conflating all South Asian experiences as one and increases the representation of the various identities in research. Results by disaggregation can allow for further research to focus on reasons why disparities may exist between ethnicities.

In terms of limitations, there were two major factors that impacted several aspects of the study. The first one is that this study had a very small sample size which not only impacted the validity of results but impacted the way analysis occurred and how well the SAS program could handle the chosen statistical methods. A contributing factor to the small sample size was difficulty with recruitment despite incentives of \$25 gift cards and using community networks. Moving forward if this were to be done again, recruitment should begin through developing a community advisory board utilizing champions that understand the intended population and their needs. By approaching recruitment through a more methodical manner, it can improve the outcomes of survey participation thus improving overall sample size. The small sample size also impacted how data was distributed as the outliers had a significant impact on the outcome of various statistical methods, preventing certain associations from being made. Additionally, as the focus of the survey was not on acculturative stress, discrimination, or perceived stress, there were not many items and instruments dedicated into looking at these constructs. Expanding acculturative items to include measures on length of stay in the country and income level could allow for the incorporation of the stages of acculturation in addition to stronger acculturative stress measures. Acculturative stress measures may have been conflated with perceived stress measures due to the smaller quantity and location in the survey, using additional item measures in the future can allow for stronger associations. Thus, this limits the strength of the responses as there could have been significantly more items to represent these various dimensions for a more validated response.

Furthermore, another drawback in the survey development is the lack of an appropriate mental health variable as this prevented any associations between perceived stress and mental health as well as acculturative stress and mental health from being made. Due to the self-reported, yes/no nature of the question, it did not actively measure participants' mental health or even ask them about prior mental health experiences. Thus, this prevented the study from being able to analyze outcomes of mental health associated with the main variables.

## REFERENCES

- Abdulrahim, S., James, S. A., Yamout, R., & Baker, W. (2012). Discrimination and psychological distress: Does Whiteness matter for Arab Americans? *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 75(12), 2116–2123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.07.030
- Ahmad, F., Shik, A., Vanza, R., Cheung, A. M., George, U., & Stewart, D. E. (2005). Voices of South Asian Women: Immigration and Mental Health. *Women & Health*, 40(4), 113–130. https://doi.org/10.1300/J013v40n04\_07
- Alegría, M., Álvarez, K., & DiMarzio, K. (2017). Immigration and Mental Health. *Current Epidemiology Reports*, 4(2), 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40471-017-0111-2
- American Psychological Association. (2023, November 1). Stress in America<sup>TM</sup> 2023: A nation grappling with psychological impacts of collective trauma. Https://Www.Apa.Org. https://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/2023/11/psychological-impacts-collectivetrauma
- Baeza-Rivera, M. J., Salazar-Fernández, C., Manríquez-Robles, D., Salinas-Oñate, N., & Smith-Castro, V. (2022). Acculturative Stress, Perceived Social Support, and Mental Health: The Mediating Effect of Negative Emotions Associated with Discrimination. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(24), 16522. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192416522
- Benet-Martínez, V., & Haritatos, J. (2005). Bicultural Identity Integration (BII): Components and Psychosocial Antecedents. *Journal of Personality*, 73(4), 1015–1050. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00337.x
- Berry, J. W. (1992). Acculturation and Adaptation in a New Society. *International Migration*, *30*(s1), 69–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.1992.tb00776.x

- Berry, J. W. (1997). Immigration, Acculturation, and Adaptation. *Applied Psychology*, 46(1), 5–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.1997.tb01087.x
- Berry, J. W. (2001). A Psychology of Immigration. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*(3), 615–631. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00231
- Berry, J. W. (2005). Acculturation: Living successfully in two cultures. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *29*(6), 697–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2005.07.013
- Bhandari, S. (2022, February). Facilitators and Barriers to Addressing Domestic Violence Among South Asian Women in the U.S. by Shreya Bhandari: SSRN. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=4039948&download=yes
- Center's for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023, April 28). *About Mental Health*. https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth/learn/index.htm
- Chandra, R. M., Arora, L., Mehta, U. M., Asnaani, A., & Radhakrishnan, R. (2016). Asian Indians in America: The influence of values and culture on mental health. *Asian Journal* of Psychiatry, 22, 202–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2015.09.011
- Choy, B., Arunachalam, K., S, G., Taylor, M., & Lee, A. (2021). Systematic review:
   Acculturation strategies and their impact on the mental health of migrant populations.
   *Public Health in Practice*, 2, 100069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhip.2020.100069
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 24(4), 385. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404
- Das Gupta, J. (1970). LANGUAGE CONFLICT AND NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT: Group politics and national language policy in india. UNIV OF CALIFORNIA Press.

 Gee, G. C., Spencer, M. S., Chen, J., & Takeuchi, D. (2007). A Nationwide Study of Discrimination and Chronic Health Conditions Among Asian Americans. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97(7), 1275–1282. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2006.091827

- Gee, G. C., Walsemann, K. M., & Takeuchi, D. T. (2010). English Proficiency and Language Preference: Testing the Equivalence of Two Measures. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(3), 563–569. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.156976
- Hwang, W.-C., & Ting, J. Y. (2008). Disaggregating the effects of acculturation and acculturative stress on the mental health of Asian Americans: Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *14*(2), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1037/1099-9809.14.2.147
- Indian Ministry of Education. (N.D.). *Overview of Indian Languages and Origins*. Indian Ministry of Education.

https://www.education.gov.in/sites/upload\_files/mhrd/files/upload\_document/languagebr.

Kaduvettoor-Davidson, A., & Inman, A. G. (2013). South Asian Americans: Perceived discrimination, stress, and well-being. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 4(3), 155– 165. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030634

Karasz, A., Gany, F., Escobar, J., Flores, C., Prasad, L., Inman, A., Kalasapudi, V., Kosi, R.,
Murthy, M., Leng, J., & Diwan, S. (2019). Mental Health and Stress among South Asians. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 21(Suppl 1), 7–14.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0501-4

- Kartal, D., & Kiropoulos, L. (2016). Effects of acculturative stress on PTSD, depressive, and anxiety symptoms among refugees resettled in Australia and Austria. *European Journal* of Psychotraumatology, 7(1), 28711. https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v7.28711
- Kaushal, N. (2009). Adversities of acculturation? Prevalence of obesity among immigrants. *Health Economics*, 18(3), 291–303. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.1368
- Kim, M. J., & Gorman, B. K. (2022). Acculturation and Self-rated Health Among Asian
   Immigrants: The Role of Gender and Age. *Population Research and Policy Review*,
   41(1), 89–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-021-09642-x
- Koneru, V. K., Weisman de Mamani, A. G., Flynn, P. M., & Betancourt, H. (2007). Acculturation and mental health: Current findings and recommendations for future research. *Applied and Preventive Psychology*, *12*(2), 76–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appsy.2007.07.016
- Kramer, E. J., Kwong, K., Lee, E., & Chung, H. (2002). Cultural factors influencing the mental health of Asian Americans. Western Journal of Medicine, 176(4), 227–231. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1071736/
- Kwan, K.-L. K., & Sodowsky, G. R. (1997). Internal and External Ethnic Identity and Their Correlates: A Study of Chinese American Immigrants. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 25(1), 51–67. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.1997.tb00315.x
- Lee, E. (2015, October 1). *Legacies of the 1965 Immigration Act* [Text]. South Asian American Digital Archive (SAADA); South Asian American Digital Archive (SAADA). https://www.saada.org/tides/article/legacies-of-the-1965-immigration-act

- Lee, S. Y., Martins, S. S., & Lee, H. B. (2015). Mental Disorders and Mental Health Service Use Across Asian American Subethnic Groups in the United States. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 51(2), 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-014-9749-0
- Lesser, I. A., Gasevic, D., & Lear, S. A. (2014). The Association between Acculturation and Dietary Patterns of South Asian Immigrants. *PLoS ONE*, 9(2), e88495. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088495
- Loya, F., Reddy, R., & Hinshaw, S. P. (2010). Mental illness stigma as a mediator of differences in Caucasian and South Asian college students' attitudes toward psychological counseling. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57(4), 484–490. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021113
- Lubin, M., & Khandai, A. C. (2016). Prevalence and Determinants of Psychiatric Disorders Among South Asians in America. *American Journal of Psychiatry Residents' Journal*, 11(2), 6–9. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp-rj.2016.110203
- Lueck, K., & Wilson, M. (2010). Acculturative stress in Asian immigrants: The impact of social and linguistic factors. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 34(1), 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2009.10.004
- Masood, N., Okazaki, S., & Takeuchi, D. T. (2009). Gender, family, and community correlates of mental health in South Asian Americans. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 15(3), 265–274. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014301
- Mehta, S. (1993). Acculturation and mental health: Asian Indian immigrants in the United States. *ETD Collection for University of Connecticut*.
- Merced, K., Ohayagha, C., Grover, R., Garcia-Rodriguez, I., Moreno, O., & Perrin, P. B. (2022). Spanish Translation and Psychometric Validation of a Measure of Acculturative Stress

among Latinx Immigrants in the USA. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(5), 2808. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19052808

- Miller, M. J., Kim, J., & Benet-Martínez, V. (2011). Validating the Riverside Acculturation Stress Inventory with Asian Americans. *Psychological Assessment*, 23(2), 300–310. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021589
- Pechilis, K., & Raj, S. J. (Eds.). (2013). *South Asian religions: Tradition and today*. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Ra, Y.-A. (2023). Roles of social support on acculturative stress of Asian international students. *Current Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-023-04696-w
- Ramachandran, S. (2020). Hindutva Violence in India. *Counter Terrorist Trends and Analyses*, 12(4), 15–20. JSTOR. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26918077
- Raymond H. C. Teske, Jr., & Nelson, B. H. (1974). Acculturation and Assimilation: A Clarification. American Ethnologist, 1(2), 351–367. https://www.jstor.org/stable/643554
- Rico, B., Key Hahn, J., & Spence, C. (2023, September 21). Asian Indian Was The Largest Asian Alone Population Group in 2020 [Government]. *America Counts: Stories Behind the Numbers*. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2023/09/2020-census-dhc-a-asianpopulation.html

SAMHSA. (2023, February 2). What is Mental Health? https://www.samhsa.gov/mental-health

Samuel, E. (2009). Acculturative Stress: South Asian Immigrant Women's Experiences in Canada's Atlantic Provinces. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 7(1), 16–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/15562940802687207 Siddiqui, S. M. (2022). Acculturative stress, everyday racism, and mental health among a community sample of South Asians in Texas. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10, 954105. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.954105

- Tummala-Narra, P., Alegria, M., & Chen, C.-N. (2012). Perceived discrimination, acculturative stress, and depression among South Asians: Mixed findings. *Asian American Journal of Psychology*, 3(1), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024661
- Uppaluri, C. R., Schumm, L. P., & Lauderdale, D. S. (2001). Self-Reports of Stress in Asian Immigrants: Effects of Ethnicity and Acculturation. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 11(1), 107–114. https://www.jstor.org/stable/45410213
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2020). Decennial Census, DEC Detailed Demographic and Housing Characteristics File A, Table T01001 [dataset]. https://data.census.gov/table/DECENNIALDDHCA2020.T01001?t=-4000D
- Williams, D. R., Yan Yu, Jackson, J. S., & Anderson, N. B. (1997). Racial Differences in Physical and Mental Health: Socio-economic Status, Stress and Discrimination. *Journal* of Health Psychology, 2(3), 335–351. https://doi.org/10.1177/135910539700200305